IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

1752 NO. 2008-CP-01732-COA

GARY LEWIS

FILED

APPELLANT

V.

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

BY:

Gary Lewis, #K5706 (State)

1447 County Farm Road Raymond, MS 39154

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF

STATEMENT OF CASE

The state filed an indictment against Appellant which charged that on April 16, 2003, I willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, and knowingly conspired to commit a crime and sell cocaine.

The Circuit Judge which was initially assigned to the case recused itself and assigned Judge Keith Starrett, another Circuit Judge from the same circuit court district.

Judge Starrett subsequently recused himself from another case which was a companion case to the same case in which he was assigned to in this case.

Judge Smith did not seek permission of the Supreme Court Justice to assign Judge Starrett to the case.

Judge Starrett and Judge Smith were judges in the same circuit court district and were close acquaintances and friends.

Judge Starrett presided over Appellant's case but found that he should not preside over another case which involved the same facts and circumstances as the current case.

Judge Smith did not follow the proper law and procedure in recusing from my case and appointing Judge Starrett.

Appellant discussed this with his attorney prior to any proceeding in any of the cases against Appellant but Appellant's attorney stated it did not matter and that they could do what they wanted to.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The correct standard of review in this appeal is the direct appeal standard where Appellant has appealed the sentence imposed upon him rather then the plea and conviction.

In the instant case the law dictates that the sentence of law where timeliness of sentence caused it to be fundamentally unfair ad clearly an abuse of discretion.

STATEMENT OF INCARCÉRATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections and assigned to the Central Mississippi County Jail Facility in Raymond, Mississippi, in service of a prison term imposed. Appellant has been continuously confined in regards to such sentence since date of conviction and imposition of sentence by trial court..

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

A.

Gary Lewis was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Lewis of the right to appeal the sentence, which the court imposed, directly to the Supreme Court.

В.

Gary Lewis was denied due process of law where he was convicted of the offense in the indictment without having admitted all elements required to prove such crimes. Having never stated that he knowingly sold such drugs while knowing such actions to be illegal.

Gary Lewis was denied fundamental due process of law the where Circuit Court disqualified itself from the case and appointed another judge of the disqualified judge's choosing where disqualified judge had no authority to choose a successor but where a Circuit Court was declared to be disqualified such duty of appointment was the sole authority of the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court.

D.

Lewis was denied his Sixth Amendment Right to effective Assistance of Counsel where defense counsel failed to bring out the issues stated herein and where, if raised, there would have been a different result.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The conviction and sentence entered in this case was rendered by a Court which was improperly sitting as a judicial body. Judge Starrett was improperly appointed to this case and in violation of state law since the trial judge which recused itself never presented the matter to the Chief Justice of the Mississippi Supreme Court to be assigned a judge in accord with Mississippi Code Ann. § 9-1-105(1). The conviction and sentence imposed by a Court which was improperly setting should be null and void as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea." In <u>Corley v. State</u>, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim. R Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it "... substantial evidence that the accused did commit

the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea." See, e.g., Coleman v. State, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); Reynolds v. State, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has continuously recognized that a plea of guilty may be challenged for voluntariness by way of the Mississippi Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act.

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

٠.

: .

Appellant Gary Lewis was denied his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel where his attorney, representing him during criminal charges of sales of cocaine failed to adequately represent Appellant by failing to object where trial court accepted plea and imposed sentence without determining that Appellant knew elements or charges and without advising Appellant of the right to appeal the sentence as such right was recognized and carved out by the case law determinations of the Mississippi Supreme Court with the full force and effect, and impact as would be applicable in the case of any other law.

In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 815 So.2d 1196 (Miss. 2002), the Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:.

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. <u>Hiter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss. 1995).

Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for him attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss. 1988).

Lewis would point out that his attorney was grossly ineffective in allowing the initial judge assigned this case to disqualify himself and self appoint another judge from the same judicial district who was subsequently found to be ineligible to preside over another case which was a companion to the present case. Defense never objected to the illegal participation and actions of the court. The trial court's order denying the PCR fails to address this claim sufficiently. The court was without jurisdiction to take such actions which cause any sentence and conviction entered to be illegal. Lewis would assert that defense counsel was deficient and prejudicial in such actions where he clearly failed to protect the rights of Appellant and allowed Appellant to be sentenced by a court which had been disqualified in a case which was connected to this case and part of the same prosecution and investigation.

In Ward v. State, 935 So.2d 1047 (Miss. 2005), the Supreme Court held the following:

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls his client's case. See <u>Strickland v Washington</u> 466 U.S. 6668, 689 (1984) noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also <u>Herring v. Estelle</u>, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir. 1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the <u>Strickland</u> analysis); 473 So. 2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the defendant alleged that him attorney did not know the relevant law).

.

In the instant case, defense counsel failed to take action to prohibit the court from appointing a judge to sit who was also disqualified and where the court had no jurisdiction to make such an appointment. Miss. Code Ann § 9-1-105(1) provides the following:

(1) Whenever any judicial officer is unwilling or unable to hear a case or unable to hold or attend any of the courts at the time and place required by law by reason of the physical disability or sickness of such judicial officer, by reason of the absence of such judicial officer from the state, by reason of the

disqualification of such judicial officer pursuant to the provision of Section 165, Mississippi Constitution of 1890, or any provision of the Code of Judicial Conduct, or for any other reason, the Chief Justice of the Mississippi Supreme Court, with the advice and consent of a majority of the justices of the Mississippi Supreme Court, may appoint a person as a special judge to hear the case or attend and hold a court.

• •

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must meet the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); Knight v. State, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); Barnes v. State, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); McQuarter v. State, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990); Waldrop v. State, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss. 1987), aff'd after remand, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); Stringer v. State, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

The Mississippi Supreme Court visited this issue in the decision of Smith v. State, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The Strickland test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. McQuarter 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the defendant. Id; Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1994), reversed in part, affirmed in part, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter, 574 So.2d at 687; Waldrop, 506 So.2d at 275; Gilliard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985). The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that for him attorney's errors, defendant would have received

a different result. <u>Nicolaou v. State</u>, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); <u>Ahmad v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

The trial court never fully addressed this issue before denying post conviction relief in this case. This Court should not deny review in this issue and should dispose of this issue on the merits.

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

In assessing attorney performance, all the Federal Courts of Appeals and all but a few state courts have now adopted the "reasonably effective assistance" standard in one formulation or another. See Trapnell v. United States, 725 F.2d 149, 151-152 (CA2 1983); App. B to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, O. T. 1983, No. 82-660, pp. 3a-6a; Sarno, [466 U.S. 668, 684] Status of Rules and Standards in State Courts as to Adequacy of Defense Counsel's Representation of Criminal Client, 2 A. L. R. 4th 99-157, 7-10 (1980). Yet this Court has not had occasion squarely to decide whether that is the proper standard. With respect to the prejudice that a defendant must show from deficient attorney performance, the lower courts have adopted tests that purport to differ in more than formulation. See App. C to Brief for United States in United States v. Cronic, supra, at 7a-10a; Sarno, supra, at 83-99, 6. In particular, the Court of Appeals in this case expressly rejected the prejudice standard articulated by Judge Leventhal in him plurality opinion in United States v. Decoster, 199 U.S. App. D.C. 359, 371, 374-375, 624 F.2d 196, 208, 211-212 (en banc), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 944 (1979), and adopted by the State of Florida in $\underline{\text{Knight v. State}}$, 394 So.2d, at 1001, a standard that requires a showing that specified deficient conduct of counsel was likely to have affected the outcome of the proceeding. 693 F.2d, at 1261-1262. For these reasons, we granted certiorari to consider the standards by which to judge a contention that the Constitution requires that a criminal judgment be overturned because of the actual ineffective assistance of counsel. 462 U.S. 1105 (1983). We agree with the Court of Appeals that the exhaustion rule requiring dismissal of mixed petitions, though to be strictly enforced, is not jurisdictional. See Rose v. Lundy, 455 U.S., at 515 -520. We therefore address the merits of the constitutional issue.

ΙI

٠.

In a long line of cases that includes <u>Powell v. Alabama</u>, 287 U.S. 45 (1932), <u>Johnson v. Zerbst</u>, 304 U.S. 458 (1938), and <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), this Court has recognized that the Sixth Amendment right to counsel

exists, and is needed, in order to protect the fundamental right to a fair trial. The Constitution guarantees a fair trial through [466 U.S. 668, 685] the Due Process Clauses, but it defines the basic elements of a fair trial largely through the several provisions of the Sixth Amendment, including the Counsel Clause: "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the State and district wherein the crime shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained by law, and to be informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in him favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for him defense." Thus, a fair trial is one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding. The right to counsel plays a crucial role in the adversarial system embodied in the Sixth Amendment, since access to counsel's skill and knowledge is necessary to accord defendants the "ample opportunity to meet the case of the prosecution" to which they are entitled. Adams v. United States ex rel. McCann, 317 U.S. 269, 275 , 276 (1942); see Powell v. Alabama, supra, at 68-69.

Because of the vital importance of counsel's assistance, this Court has held that, with certain exceptions, a person accused of a federal or state crime has the right to have counsel appointed if retained counsel cannot be obtained. See Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25 (1972); Gideon v. Wainwright, supra; Johnson v. Zerbst, supra. That a person who happens to be a lawyer is present at trial alongside the accused, however, is not enough to satisfy the constitutional command. The Sixth Amendment recognizes the right to the assistance of counsel because it envisions counsel's playing a role that is critical to the ability of the adversarial system to produce just results. An accused is entitled to be assisted by an attorney, whether retained or appointed, who plays the role necessary to ensure that the trial is fair. [466 U.S. 668, 686] For that reason, the Court has recognized that "the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel." McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 , n. 14 (1970). Government violates the right to effective assistance when it interferes in certain ways with the ability of counsel to make independent decisions about how to conduct the defense. See, e. g., <u>Geders v. United States</u>, 425 U.S. 80 (1976) (bar on attorney-client consultation during overnight recess); Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853 (1975) (bar on summation_at bench trial); Brooks v. Tennessee, 406 U.S. 605, 612 -613 (1972) (requirement that defendant be first defense witness); Ferquson v. Georgia, 365 U.S. 570, 593 -596 (1961) (bar on direct examination of defendant). Counsel, however, can also deprive a defendant of the right to effective assistance, simply by failing to render "adequate legal assistance," Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S., at 344 . Id. at 345-350 (actual conflict_of_interest_adversely_affecting lawyer's performance renders assistance ineffective). The Court has not elaborated

on the meaning of the constitutional requirement of effective assistance in the latter class of cases - that is, those presenting claims of "actual ineffectiveness." In giving meaning to the requirement, however, we must take its purpose - to ensure a fair trial - as the guide. The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result. The same principle applies to a capital sentencing proceeding such as that provided by Florida law. We need not consider the role of counsel in an ordinary sentencing, which may involve informal proceedings and standardless discretion in the sentencer, and hence may require a different approach to the definition of constitutionally effective assistance. A capital sentencing proceeding like the one involved in this case, however, is sufficiently like a trial in its adversarial format and in the existence of standards for decision, see Barclay [466 U.S. 668, 687] v. Florida, 463 U.S. 939, 952 -954 (1983); Bullington v. Missouri, 451 U.S. 430 (1981), that counsel's role in the proceeding is comparable to counsel's role at trial - to ensure that the adversarial testing process works to produce a just result under the standards governing decision. For purposes of describing counsel's duties, therefore, Florida's capital sentencing proceeding need not be distinguished from an ordinary trial.

III

A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction or death sentence has two components. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Α

As all the Federal Courts of Appeals have now held, the proper standard for attorney performance is that of reasonably effective assistance. See Trappell v. United States, 725 F.2d, at 151-152. The Court indirectly recognized as much when it stated in McMann v. Richardson, supper, at 770, 771, that a guilty plea cannot be attacked as based on inadequate legal advice unless counsel was not "a reasonably competent attorney" and the advice was not "within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." See also Cuyler v. Sullivan, supra,_at 344. When a convicted defendant [466 U.S. 668, 688] complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. More specific quidelines are not appropriate. The Sixth Amendment refers

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