IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GARY LEWIS APPELLANT

VS. NO. 2008-CP-1752-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The record reflects that Judge Starrett properly presided over Lewis' guilty plea hearing. R. 1-13. Judge Starrett was the senior judge in the district. The original judge assigned the case recused itself in favor of Starrett. C.P. 50-52.

The record reflects no request for recusal, and no objection of record on the basis of any prior knowledge about the pending charges. R. 1-13.

Lewis's pro se "motion for post conviction" relief provided no basis for any recusal. C.P. 14-44. There were no affidavits or proposed witnesses in support of any of his claims for relief. There was no claim and no support for any claim of any degree of prior knowledge about any of the charges against Lewis by the trial judge.

2. The record reflects that Lewis received effective assistance of counsel. The record provides no basis for objecting to the jurisdiction or impartiality of the trial court. The record reflects that Lewis acknowledged knowing that he was waiving his right to appeal by pleading guilty. R. 4.

In addition, Lewis is serving concurrent twenty year sentences for three separate felonies rather than consecutive sentences which could have resulted in a sixty year sentence. Lewis stated under oath that he was "satisfied" with the services provided by his guilty plea counsel. R. 4.

The appellee would submit that the record does not provide any basis for finding either "deficient" performance or "prejudice" to Lewis as a result of his guilty plea counsel's advice and counsel. R. 1-13.

3. The trial court found that the record was sufficient for determining that Lewis' pleas were voluntarily and intelligently entered. C.P. 50-51. Lewis acknowledged knowing the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty, which included his right to a direct appeal after a conviction. R. 1-4. He acknowledged knowing the twenty year maximum sentences. He knew the prosecution had agreed

to run his sentences concurrently and to drop three other felony sale charges. He admitted a factual basis for the guilty pleas when he admitted that he believed the prosecution could prove him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. R. 5. He admitted that he had not been promised anything or coerced into pleading guilty. R. 5.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION I

THE RECORD REFLECTS NO GROUNDS FOR RECUSAL.

In Lewis' pro se "motion for post conviction relief," he complained that the trial court, the Honorable Keith Starrett, should have recusal himself from presiding over his guilty plea hearing. He argued that he should have done so, because Judge Mike Smith, who originally was assigned these cases, recused himself. In addition, Lewis claimed that Judge Starrett had allegedly recused himself from another unidentified case prior to hearing his pleas in the instant cause. Motion page 14-46.

To the contrary, the record contains no request for recusal or an objection on any specific relevant grounds for recusal in the instant causes. R. 1-13 and C.P. 1-79.

Therefore, the appellee would submit that this issue was waived for failure to object or to request recusal in a timely manner.

In Wilcher v. State 863 So.2d 776, 794 (Miss. 2003), the Supreme Court found that a claim for recusal can be waived where it was not timely presented to the trial court.

¶ 21. Wilcher's attempts to show that Judge Gordon was biased are not convincing, but his argument that Judge Gordon should have recused himself may have merit. However, the evidence surrounding Wilcher's recusal claim was capable of being discovered and raised at both the trial level and on direct appeal. Therefore, the issue is barred. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-39-21(1) & (2).

In addition to being waived, the record indicates that this claim is also lacking in merit.

Lewis' motion and the record assembled in this cause does not provide any basis for any recusal of the trial court in the instant cause.

As stated by the Pike County trial court, Judge Michael M. Taylor, in denying relief:

Lewis's right to counsel arguments are rooted in his belief that Judge Starrett was not

qualified to take the plea. Lewis correctly notes that Judge Mike Smith was originally assigned to the case. Judge Smith recused himself from the case and Judge Starrett, then the Senior Judge in the circuit court district, accepted the case.

Lewis cites section 9-1-105 M. C. A. in support of this argument, The code section deals not with recusal but with disability or absence. There was a qualified, duly elected judge in the district to hear the case.

Still on the recusal issue, Lewis contends that "Judge Starrett and Judge Smith were judges in the same circuit court district and close acquaintances and friends." Apparently Lewis believes that the recusal of any judge disqualifies the others. Again, assuming the truthfulness of Lewis' assertions, he is not entitled to any relief. There is nothing in the record to indicate that Judge Starrett acted inappropriately in accepting this plea. C.P. 50.

In re Conservatorship of Bardwell, 849 So.2d 1240, 1247 (Miss. 2003), the Supreme Court found no grounds for recusal. The court found a lack of grounds for recusal where the claim was that a judge might have heard something about a case. This was not sufficient for any claim of "sufficient involvement."

¶ 23. If we were to declare today on the facts of this case that the chancellor had "sufficient involvement" which warranted recusal, we would be establishing a standard whereby all chancellors would have to recuse themselves from all matters tried in their courts wherein they had previously heard anything involving the case. To carry this scenario out further, if "substantial involvement" in a case (or a party) were legitimate grounds for recusal, a circuit judge or county judge with five indictments on the same defendant would have to get four other judges involved in presiding over the remaining cases because of "substantial involvement" with the criminal defendant in the first case. Obviously, this is but one example of numerous absurdities which would result from such a declaration

The record reflects that this issue was waived. There was no request for recusal or objection. There were no grounds for recusal provided on appeal. In addition, even if there had been a motion for recusal, there was no evidence in support of the motion. There was, and still is, no evidence of any prior involvement or knowledge about any of the charges against Lewis. This was when he pled guilty voluntarily and intelligently to the charges against him. Motion, page 14-44.

The appellee would submit that this issue is lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION II

THE RECORD REFLECTS LEWIS RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Lewis argues he was denied effective assistance of counsel. He thinks his counsel should have objected to or requested that the trial judge recuse itself from presiding over his case in the instant cause. He also should have objected to Lewis not being informed of his right to appeal. Motion, page 18.

To the contrary, as shown under proposition I, there was no basis for recusal stated in Lewis's motion or in any of the documents which constitute the record of this cause. See motion.

The trial court denied relief on this claim also, finding no basis in the record for guilty plea counsel to have requested recusal, after the fact.

Finally, Lewis alleges that he pointed out all of these recusal issues to his attorney who refused to act on the issues. This inaction, Lewis contends, deprived him of his right to effective assistance of counsel. In support of this Lewis provides many pages of argument on **Strickland v. Washington**, and other important "right to counsel" cases. Like Lewis's other argument, this is without merit. Lewis's attorney was under no duty to advance unsupported and erroneous legal theories-even if Mr. Lewis wanted those theories advanced. C.P. 51.

The **Strickland** standard for ineffective assistance of counsel, 466 U. S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L Ed 2d 674 (1984) which requires both a showing of "deficient" performance and "prejudicial" impact is also applicable to the entry of a guilty plea. **Roland v. State**, 666 So. 2d 747, 750 (Miss 1995); **Bailey v. State**, 760 So. 2d 781, 783 (Miss. App. 2000).

This is an exacting standard and therefore demands a showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial. Unless a defendant can offer evidence supporting both prongs of analysis, it cannot be said that the outcome resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable. **Stringer v. State**, 454 So. 2d 468, 477 (Miss 1987)(citing **Strickland**, 466 U S at 687, 104 S Ct 2052). The burden of proof in the **Strickland** test rests with the defendant who faces a rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. **Walker v State**, 703 So.

2d 266, 268 (Miss. 1997).

During the guilty plea hearing, Lewis stated that he was "satisfied with his attorney's representation." R. 4. He also stated that no one had "promised" him a lenient sentence. He also admitted that he was believed, based upon the discovery, that the prosecution could "prove him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." R. 5. He was pleading guilty because he was guilty of these three conspiracy charges.

Court: Have you been satisfied with your attorney's representation?

Defendant: Yes, sir. R. 4.

Court: Has anyone threatened, abused or promised you anything to cause you to want to plead guilty?

Defendant: No, sir.

Court: Are you pleading guilty because you are guilty of these offenses and for no other reason?

Defendant: Yes, sir.

Q. Have your reviewed the state's discovery material with your attorney?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you satisfied the state can prove beyond a reasonable doubt that you're guilty of the offenses charged?

A. Yes, sir. R., 5.

The record does not indicate any misinformation or faulty advice provided by Lewis' guilty plea counsel. Nor is there any evidence that counsel's actions or inactions prejudiced Lewis' defense to the charges. Instead of serving more than sixty years for his three convictions, Lewis is enjoying the twenty year concurrent sentences negotiated on his behalf by his guilty plea counsel.

The appellee would submit that this issue is also lacking in merit.

PROPOSITION III

THE RECORD INDICATES LEWIS' PLEA WAS VOLUNTARILY AND INTELLIGENTLY ENTERED.

In his motion, Lewis also indicates that his plea was not voluntarily and intelligently entered. He claimed that his "due process of law" was violated when he was allegedly not informed of his right to appeal. This was in addition to his complaint about his counsel not requesting recusal of the trial court. He also claimed no basis for his plea since he had not "knowingly sold such drugs while knowing such actions to be illegal." Motion, page 4-44.

To the contrary, the appellee would submit the record does not indicate any due process violations.

As stated by the trial court in denying relief:

The court has examined the pleadings and attachments together with the court file. Mr. Lewis pled guilty in front of former Circuit Judge Keith Starrett. Lewis executed a "Know Your Rights Before Pleading Guilty" form that included language advising Lewis of that he was forfeiting his right to appeal and other important rights. Lewis acknowledged, under oath his guilt and admitted a factual basis for the plea. (Even now Lewis alleges only that he did not know that selling drugs was illegal at the time of the plea.) The record does not support Lewis' contention that he did not understand the consequences of his plea. It was not necessary to procure from Mr. Lewis a statement that Lewis subjectively understood, at the time of the offense, that his conduct was illegal. There is no merit in Lewis' argument with the plea dialogue or process. C.P. 50. (Emphasis by appellee).

In Alexander v. State, 605 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992), this Court found, in accord with Boykin v Alabama, 395 U. S. 238, 242 (1969), that a defendant must be advised and understand "the nature of the charge against him and the consequences of the plea." This is necessary if the plea is to be accepted on the record as voluntarily and intelligently entered.

A plea of guilty is not binding upon a criminal defendant unless it is entered voluntarily and intelligently. **Myers v. State**, 583 So. 2d 174, 177(Miss. 1991). A plea is deemed "voluntary and intelligent" only where the defendant is advised concerning the nature of the charge against him and the consequences of the plea. See

Wilson v. State, 577 So. 2d 394, 396-97 (Miss. 1991). Specifically, the defendant must be told that a guilty plea involves a waiver of the right to a trial by jury, the

right to confront adverse witnesses, and the right to protection against self

incrimination. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274, 89 S. Ct. 1709

(1969). Rule 3.03 of the Uniform Criminal Rules of Circuit Court Practice additionally requires, inter alia, that the trial judge "inquire and determine" that the

accused understands the maximum and minimum penalties to which he may be

sentenced.

The record from the guilty plea hearing indicates that Lewis stated under oath that he

understood he was waiving his right to a trial with cross examination of witnesses, along with his

right to a direct appeal.

Court: You have a right to require a unanimous verdict of twelve jurors before you

can be convicted and even if your are convicted, you have the right to appeal. Do you

understand these rights?

Defendant: Yes sir. R. 4.

The record indicates that Lewis also stated that he understood the maximum twenty year

sentence which for three convictions could total some sixty years. R. 4. He also understood that the

prosecution had agreed as part of the plea negotiation to drop three additional felony charges for sale

of cocaine, R. 7.

Court: Has anyone threatened, abused or promised you anything to cause you to want

to plead guilty?

Defendant: No, sir.

Court: Are you pleading guilty because you are guilty of these offenses and for

no other reason?

Defendant: Yes, sir.

Court: Have you reviewed the state's discovery material with your attorney?

Defendant: Yes, sir.

Court: Are you satisfied the state can prove beyond a reasonable doubt that

you're guilty of the offenses charged?

12

Defendant: Yes, sir. R. 5. (Emphasis by appellee).

The appellee would submit that the record cited above indicates that Lewis understood the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty. They included his right to a direct appeal, along with his right to a trial. R. 3-5. He stated he understood the twenty year maximum sentences for his convictions, as well as the recommendation by the prosecution to drop three other felony charges. He admitted that he had not been promised anything or coerced into pleading guilty. R. 5.

The record also reflects a factual basis for the plea. Lewis admitted that he was guilty of the conspiracy offenses as charged in the indictment. R. 5. It is not necessary that Lewis understand at the time of his actions that he was committing a felony. This would be when he was agreeing with and acting in concert with others for their illicit purposes. He was acting with them so as to create the conditions under which they could sell cocaine. C.P. 50-52.

This issue is also lacking in merit.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's denial of relief should be affirmed for the reasons cited in this brief.